# University of Nebraska - Lincoln

# DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research

Agronomy and Horticulture, Department of

Summer 8-5-2019

# Expression of Multi-Domain Lytic Peptide Genes in Transgenic Plants for Disease Resistance

George Biliarski University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss

Part of the Agricultural Science Commons, Agriculture Commons, and the Plant Biology Commons

Biliarski, George, "Expression of Multi-Domain Lytic Peptide Genes in Transgenic Plants for Disease Resistance" (2019). *Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research*. 176. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss/176

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Agronomy and Horticulture, Department of at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

# EXPRESSION OF MULTI-DOMAIN LYTIC PEPTIDE GENES IN TRANSGENIC

# PLANTS FOR DISEASE RESISTANCE

by

George S. Biliarski

# A THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of

The Graduate College at the University of Nebraska

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Major: Agronomy

Under the Supervision of Professor Amitava Mitra

Lincoln, Nebraska

July 2019

# EXPRESSION OF MULTI-DOMAIN LYTIC PEPTIDE GENES IN TRANSGENIC PLANTS FOR DISEASE RESISTANCE

George S. Biliarski, M. S.

University of Nebraska, 2019

Advisor: Amitava Mitra

Many organisms produce small proteins which exhibit antimicrobial activities. In recent decades, the biological role of antimicrobial peptides (AMP) has been recognized as the main factor in the defense mechanisms against a broad range of pathogenic microbes. The increased worldwide incidence of microbial resistance to antibiotics and pesticides, makes AMPs promising alternative for the control of microbial disease.

In the last decades, synthetically designed novel non-natural APMs have become an option for use in the improvement of agriculture for crops. The synthetic AMPs have enhanced activities against a wide spectrum of pathogens with low non-specific toxicity, good stability, and bioavailability. Exploring the potential of the AMPs in transgenic crops could lead to the development of new and improved cultivars which are resistant to various pathogenic diseases.

In the present study, four different non-plant multi-domain lytic peptide genes, which code for antimicrobial peptides and are expressed in *Nicotiana benthamiana* tobacco plants were tested against three fungal pathogens: *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, Rhizoctonia solani,* and *Pythium* sp. Detached-leaf bioassay was performed for the transgenic plants carrying multidomain lytic peptide constructs (ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12), transgenic vector control plants (1234), and wild control plants (WT) against the three fungal pathogens. Symptom area of each leaf was measured with high accuracy. Data was recorded and processed by statistical analyses. The results showed that transgenic plant lines ORF13 and RSL1 have substantial resistance to Sclerotinia sclerotiorum infection, producing significant smaller symptom area compared to controls: vector plant line 1234 and wild type WT. However, these lines were not effective against two other fungal pathogens *Rhizoctonia solani*, and *Pythium* sp

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am expressing my appreciation to all people who have given me their support, guidance, assistance in accomplishing my master's thesis. I am very thankful to The University of Nebraska-Lincoln, the Department of Plant Pathology to provide me the opportunity to develop my skills and grow.

I like to express my gratitude to my advisor Dr. Amitava Mitra for guiding me during the years in the process of completing my graduate work. At the same time, I am thankful to Dr. Gerard Adams and Dr. Ismail Dweikat for their help and to serve as committee members.

Special thanks go to my best friend, Dr. Joydeep Benerjee, for teaching me many laboratory skills and for his advice when I was initially admitted to the lab.

My appreciation extends to Dr. Katja Koehler-Cole and Yinglun Zhan for helping me with my statistical analysis. To Mahmoud Ghozlan for working alongside me and brought his energy to the lab. To Serkan Togoz for his nice talk and support.

Most importantly, I will always be very thankful to my family: to my parents, Svetoslav and Ludmila Biliarski for their love and support, to my wife Daisy Biliarski who spent long nights helping me with the data readings, to my son Stephen Biliarski who suffered the lack of my attention. Thank you for your encouragement and your love.

# CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF CHARTS	xiii
INTRODUCTION	1
Mode of Action of Antimicrobial Peptides	2
Bacteria Cell Wall Interaction	2
Fungal Cell Wall Interaction	3
Phospholipid Membrane Interaction	3
Intracellular Targets Interaction	5
History of Antimicrobial Peptides	6
Antimicrobial Peptides as Inhibitors of Plant Pathogenic Microorganisms in Tran Plants	sgenic
MATERIALS AND METHODS	12
Multi-domain lytic peptide constructs and transgenic lines	12
Preparation of transgenic and control Nicotiana benthamiana plants	12
Seeds sterilization	12
Seeds Germination on Murashige-Skoog Solid Plant Media	13
Transfer of the seedlings from magenta boxes to pots	13
Neomycin phosphotransferase II Enzyme-linked-Immunosorbent Assay (NPTII ELISA)	14
DNA extraction from plants	15
DNA quality check	16
Neomycin phosphotransferase II - Polymerase Chain Reaction (NPTII - PCR)	16
Lytic peptide gene - Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	16
Agarose gel electrophoresis	17
Detached-leaf bioassay	18
Data collection	19
RESULTS	20

S	Seeds Germination on Murashige-Skoog Solid Plant Media	. 20
N E	Neomycin phosphotransferase II Enzyme-linked-Immunosorbent Assay (NPTII ELISA)	. 21
Р	Plant DNA extraction	. 22
P n	Polymerase Chain Reaction to amplify <i>Neomycin phosphotransferase II</i> selectable narker gene (NPTII – PCR)	. 26
Р	Polymerase Chain Reaction to amplify Lytic peptide genes	. 35
Γ	Detached-leaf Bioassay Experiment	. 41
	Experimental design	. 41
S	Sclerotinia sclerotiorum experiment	. 43
R	Rhizoctonia solani experiment	. 51
P	<i>Pythium</i> sp. experiment	. 59
DIS	SCUSSION	. 67
RE	FERENCES	. 70

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primer sequences used to amplify Lytic peptide genes. The primers were   designed by Mitra Lab.   17
Table 2. Amplified length of Lytic peptide genes
Table 3. Source of variations and degrees of freedom for the all three tested pathogens. 41
Table 4. The least square mean model equation used in the statistical analyses of the obtained data sets.    42
Table 5. Variety codes used in the statistical analyses and charts
Table 6. Estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety 47
Table 7. Estimated mean differences between wild type WT control and the transgenicvarieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.49
Table 8. Estimated mean differences between transgenic vector control 1234 and the lyticpeptide transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12
Table 9. Estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety 55
Table 10. Estimated mean differences between wild type WT control and the transgenicvarieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF1257
Table 11. Estimated mean differences between transgenic control 1234 and the lyticpeptide transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.58
Table 12. Estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety 63
Table 13. Estimated mean differences between wild type WT control and the transgenicvarieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.65
Table 14. Estimated mean differences between transgenic control 1234 and the lyticpeptide transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.66

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Aseptically grown ORF12 transgenic tobacco lines in magenta boxes. Plants show normal growth and development
Figure 2. NPTII ELISA assay of transgenic and control plants. The blue colored wells indicate positive result. Marks on the photo correspond with the tested plant varieties 21
Figure 3. NPTII ELISA assay of transgenic and control plants. The blue colored wells indicate positive result. Marks on the photo, correspond with the tested plant varieties. 22
Figure 4. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants
Figure 5. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants
Figure 6. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants
Figure 7. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants
Figure 8. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants
Figure 9. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for <i>NPTII</i> gene in ORF 13 plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants. 27
Figure 10. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for <i>NPTII</i> gene in RSA1 plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.

 Figure 22. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) ORF13 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF13 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF13 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 43

Figure 23. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) RSL1 leaf with a small infection severity. B) RSL1 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) RSL1 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 44

Figure 24. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) CN77 leaf with a small infection severity. B) CN77 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) CN77 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 45

Figure 25. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) ORF12 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF12 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF12 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 46

Figure 26. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) ORF13 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF13 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF13 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 51

Figure 27. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) RSL1 leaf with a small infection severity. B) RSL1 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) RSL1 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 52

Figure 28. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) CN77 leaf with a small infection severity. B) CN77 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) CN77 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 53

Figure 29. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) ORF12 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF12 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF12 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 54

Figure 30. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) ORF13 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF13 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF13 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 59

Figure 31. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) RSL1 leaf with a small infection severity. B) RSL1 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) RSL1 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 60

Figure 32. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) CN77 leaf with a small infection severity. B) CN77 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) CN77 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 61

Figure 33. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) ORF12 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF12 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF12 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity. 62

# LIST OF CHARTS

Chart 1. <i>Sclerotinia sclerotiorum</i> experiment. The estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate standard error
Chart 2. <i>Sclerotinia sclerotiorum</i> experiment. Least squares mean with confidential interval. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate the confidence interval
Chart 3. <i>Rhizoctonia solani</i> experiment. The estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate standard error
Chart 4. <i>Rhizoctonia solani</i> experiment. Least squares mean with confidential interval. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate the confidence interval
Chart 5. <i>Pythium</i> sp. experiment. The estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate standard error
Chart 6. <i>Pythium</i> sp. experiment. Least squares mean with confidential interval. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate the confidence interval

# **INTRODUCTION**

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are natural components of many living organisms' defense system. The common characteristic of these peptides is their ability to suppress a wide range of pathogenic microbes. AMPs are peptides which consist of up to 100 amino acids (AAs). In nature, AMPs are molecules with a high degree of biochemical and structural variability, which strongly correlates with the environmental diversity and the richness of living organisms. Despite their variability, AMPs share common characteristics such as positively charged AAs and the existence of hydrophobic or hydrophilic secondary structures. The cationic nature of AMPs determines their ability to interact selectively with negatively charged microbial surfaces, which result in disruption or inhibition of microbial cells. Based on their secondary structure, AMPs can be grouped into the following types:  $\alpha$ -helical,  $\beta$ -sheets,  $\beta$ -loop and random coil.  $\alpha$ -Helical structure is a form of a right hand-spiral protein conformation. To form this shape, each N-H backbone group in the protein donates a hydrogen bond to the C=O backbone group of the protein. The distance between the bonds is three to four residues along the protein sequence. As in the  $\alpha$ -helical,  $\beta$ -sheets assembly consists of two or three hydrogen bonds which connect two parallel  $\beta$ -strands molecules. In the random coil structure, a group of protein strands is bonded randomly with an indefinite sequence.

# **Mode of Action of Antimicrobial Peptides**

### **Bacteria Cell Wall Interaction**

Unlike the higher living organisms, bacterial membrane is often surrounded by a tight cell wall composed of lipopolysaccharides (LPS), phospholipids and peptidoglycans (PGN). The presence of an outer membrane in gram-negative bacteria is a typical characteristic that does not exist in gram-positive bacteria. Both bacterial types have periplasmic space or periplasm. In gram-positive bacteria periplasm is located between the cell wall and the cytoplasmic membrane. Periplasmic space in Gram-negative bacteria is situated between the plasma membrane and the outer membrane.

The cell wall of both bacterial types contains PGN layers. The gram-positive bacteria cell wall is made of several PGN layers with a thickness of about 40-80 nm. In Gram-negative bacteria, the PGN layer is 7-8 nm thick and is locked in the periplasmic space (1). The outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria is composed of a lipid bilayer with phospholipid inner leaflet and lipopolysaccharide outer leaflet (2–4).

AMPs can penetrate the gram-negative bacterial cell wall by a charge-exchange mechanism. During this process, the cationic peptides compete with  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  and bind to the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) layer of the outer membrane. Later, these peptides penetrate the bacterial cells by an interaction with the cytoplasmic membrane phospholipids. Due to their hydrophobic domains, peptides translocated across the bacterial membrane, entering into the cell and binding to DNA and other cell membranes (5).

AMPs interaction with gram-positive bacterial cell wall is not well understood. AMPs can disrupt the synthesis of PGN by interfering the enzymatic processes of the synthesis. AMPs

also target the negatively charged cell wall components such as teichoic acid and lipoteichoic acid. The semisynthetic lipoglycopeptide oritavancin can be used as a model interaction of AMPs against the gram-positive bacterial cell wall. It displays the effect of inhibition of PGN synthesis (1).

# **Fungal Cell Wall Interaction**

The fungal cell wall is a layered structure, with the inner layers performing a predominantly mechanical function, while the outer layers are associated with the physiological features of particular fungal species. In most species, the inner cell wall is composed of covalently attached branched  $\beta$ -(1, 3) glucan with chitin. This branched glucan is tied to proteins and polysaccharides which compose outer cell wall, and their conformation varies with the fungal species (6).

AMPs interaction with the fungal cell wall varies depending on the AMPs type. Some AMPs disrupt the function and structure of the cell wall. Defensin NP-1 binds tightly to the chitin layer, which can lead to selective plasma membrane lysis. Nikkomycin can block chitin biosynthesis. Echinocandin and its synthetic analogs can inhibit synthesis of branched  $\beta$ -(1,3) glucan (7).

# **Phospholipid Membrane Interaction**

Antimicrobial peptides undergo conformational changes when they interact with a target phospholipid membrane. In water the AMPs structure is hydrophilic. However, their conformation has to be changed because they must expose a hydrophobic area to the lipidic constituent of the membrane. The conformation change happens when a monomeric

peptide adopts a random structure in solution but gains an amphipathic structure when it is reaching the membrane. The other scenario is when peptides form an oligomer, they exposed their hydrophilic regions to the solution and bury their hydrophobic regions in a formed lumen. Upon reaching the membrane surface, the oligomer reverses its organization such that the hydrophobic part is exposed to a lipid constituent of the cell membrane (8). Antimicrobial peptides act in different ways when they interact with the membranes, but the main action mode of AMPs is the permeabilization of phospholipid membranes. This process is described through several models: toroidal-pore model, carpet model, and barrelstave model.

#### **Toroidal-Pore Model**

In this model, the lipid monolayer is bent continuously by attached alpha helix AMPs. To forming a pore, the hydrophobic surface of the peptide interacts with lipid head groups of the membrane (9). In the formed toroidal pore, the polar faces of the peptide are associated with the polar head groups of the lipid constituents (10). Lipids constituting the pore tilt from the normal lamellar structure, and connect the two leaflets of the membrane, creating an uninterrupted bend from top to bottom in a mode of the toroidal hole (11).

### **Carpet Model**

In this model, peptides are accumulated on the phospholipid membrane by strong electrostatic forces. The anionic phospholipid head groups of the plasma membrane attract the cationic antimicrobial peptides, which are oriented parallel to the membrane surface. Peptides are attached to the anionic phospholipid head groups at the multiple sites covering the membrane surface in carpet-like mode. At high peptide concentration, surface-attached peptides are capable of disrupting the membrane bilayer (11).

# **Barrel-Stave Model**

In this model alpha-helix peptides are linked together in an oligomer molecule which forms transmembrane pores. The hydrophilic surfaces of the peptides are oriented to the lumen of the pore; the hydrophobic surface is oriented to the lipid layer of the cell membrane. The transmembrane pore formation process starts with binding of peptide monomers to the phospholipid membrane surface. Subsequently, the monomers are inserted into the lipid core of the membrane. The peptide monomer concentration is critical for the pore size formation. The high accumulation of the monomers increases the pore size and consequently leads to cytoplasmic cell content release (12).

# **Intracellular Targets Interaction**

In addition to the ability to interact with cell walls and the cell membranes, there are more indications for specific interactions of the AMPs with intracellular targets. The most common effect of AMPs is the inhibition of both cell wall and protein synthesis due to DNA and RNA binding. By translocating to the cytoplasm, AMPs can alter the cytoplasmic membrane formation by inhibition of main metabolic processes such as cell wall formation, enzyme activity, nucleic acid and protein synthesis (13).

# **History of Antimicrobial Peptides**

In 1939 an antimicrobial peptide named gramicidins was isolated from the prokaryotic cells of *Bacillus brevis* (14). Gramicidin, a heterogeneous mixture of six antibiotic peptides, was successfully used to treat infected wounds on the guinea-pig skin which proved their potential for clinical use (15). The gramicidin was the first commercially produced AMPs (16).

Eukaryotic organisms also produce AMPs. Previous research in plants showed the existence of four different groups of AMPs which play a significant role in the plant defense system (17). These groups include plant defensins, lipid transfer peptides, thionins, and chitin-binding peptides (17).

The increase of multidrug-resistance in microbial pathogens in the early 1960s raised the interest in host defense molecules (18, 19). Studies with human neutrophils during that period proved that the oxygen-independent mechanisms which are not part of the adaptive immune system are responsible for the elimination of pathogenic bacteria. The mechanisms are based on cationic proteins contained in the neutrophil cells (20, 21).

The isolation of bombinin AMP in 1962 from the orange speckled frog *Bombina variegata*, is the first reported animal antimicrobial peptide (22). At the same time during the 1960s the antimicrobial peptide, lactoferrin was isolated from milk (23). Several research papers from the late 1970s and 1980s reported isolation of AMPs from rabbits' and humans' leukocytes; these groups of antimicrobial peptides are well known nowadays as  $\alpha$ -defensins (24–27).

In an experiment carried out in 1981 by Boman *et al.* pupae of the moth *Hyalophora cecropia* were injected with bacteria. Later, inducible cationic antimicrobial peptides

named P9A and P9B were isolated from the hemolymph of the pupae. The proteins were sequenced, characterized, and renamed as cecropins. The cecropins were the first reported  $\alpha$ -helical AMPs (28).

In the late 1980s,  $\beta$ -defensins and  $\theta$ -defensins were isolated from bovine granulocytes (29). The first anionic AMPs was isolated and identified from the frog species Xenopus *laevis* in the mid-1990s (30). During the same period, more evidence had proved the view that lysozyme activities are non-enzymatic with a similar mode of action to that of antimicrobial peptides (31). These findings convinced some authors to believe that AMPs are the main defense factor of organisms lacking an adaptive immune system (32). These theories were confirmed in an experiment with the fruit fly, *Drosophila melanogaster*, during the mid-1990s. After the deletion of the genes responsible for encoding AMPs, the fly became susceptible to fungal infections (33). The extensive study of the AMPs encompasses not only plants and insects but also the invertebrate organisms which do not possess an adaptive immune system (34-37). Most of the current findings and understanding for the AMPs function and structure are based on experiments conducted with amphibian skin secretions, which are a rich source of AMPs (38–41). Research work proved that AMPs are typical for all multicellular organisms (42), and these peptides have an essential role in the mammalian immune system (43–46).

# Antimicrobial Peptides as Inhibitors of Plant Pathogenic Microorganisms in Transgenic Plants

Diseases caused by microbial pathogen constitute a significant problem in crop production in the United States and worldwide. Pesticide application is a common practice to combat crop diseases. In the United States, over one billion pounds of agrochemicals are used annually for pest control, and the worldwide usage is approximately 5.6 billion pounds per year (47). The systemic use of pesticides harms the environment and increases the risk of pesticide resistance incidents. Therefore, alternative means to combating crop diseases are being tested and employed.

Genetically engineering techniques have shown excellent results in plant-pathogen inhibition in recent decades. Successfully created commercial lines of genetically modified (GM) crops which are resistant to a broad range of pathogens have proven the effectiveness of this alternative approach. For example, experiments with model plants contained gene construct with AMPs coding sequences have been carried out by some authors. Results have shown the great capability of the AMPs genes constructs for protection against diseases caused by plant pathogens (48–53).

In a carried study, human lactoferrin cDNA has been used for tobacco plants *Nicotiana tabacum* transformation (48). The integration of cDNA in the plant genome was analyzed by Southern, Northern, and Western blots. After inoculation with the bacterial pathogen *Ralstonia solanacearum*, most transgenic plants showed substantial delays of bacterial wilt symptoms. The positive relationship between the expressed lactoferrin gene and disease resistance was proved by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

Further examples include investigations of the expression of the lactoferrin (LF) gene in transgenic tomato plants (49). The plants were tested for resistance to the pathogen *Ralstonia solanacearum* Smith that causes bacterial wilt in tomato. Susceptible tomato line F7926-96 was transformed by *Agrobacterium transformation* with modified LF cDNA and gene introgression confirmed by Southern blot. Additionally, lactoferrin expression was detected by northern and western blots. In T1 and T2 generations, kanamycin resistance was observed based on Mendelian segregation verifying a single locus insertion. Furthermore, Southern blot analysis showed a single corresponding band of LF cDNA in T1 and T2 kanamycin resistant plants. The two transgenic tomato lines inoculated with the pathogen  $(1x10^7 \text{ and } 1x10^8 \text{ colony-forming units (CFU)})$  exhibited an early resistance and subsequent susceptibility. The survival rate until maturity was observed at 44% to 55% of the plants when they are inoculated with  $1x10^5$  CFU. These results demonstrated the potential of the lactoferrin AMP gene for control of bacterial wilt of tomato.

Bovine lactoferrin cDNA construct was used for transformation of wheat plants, and the transformants were inoculated with head blight disease fungus *Fusarium graminearum* (54). Significant reduction of disease incidence was observed in the transgenic plants. Highly susceptible cultivar Bobwhite expressed high resistance compared to control Bobwhite plants and two untransformed commercial wheat cultivars (Wheaton and ND 2710). The positive correlation between lactoferrin gene expression and the levels of disease resistance were proved by an ELISA experiment.

Two tomato proteins Snakin-2 (SN2) and extensin-like protein (ELP) were over-expressed in transgenic tomato plants to test their ability to induce resistance to *Clavibacter michiganensis* subsp. *michiganensis* (Cmm) (51). The tomato plants, cultivar Mountain Fresh, were transformed via an *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* transformation. Tomato transgenic lines that accumulated a high level of SN2 or ELP mRNA showed significant tolerance to Cmm by a delay of the wilt symptoms and a reduction in the size of canker lesions compared to control. In the transgenic lines over-expressing SN2 or ELP, bacterial populations were significantly lower (100-10,000-fold) than in control plants. The results suggested a potential biotechnological application of these two defense proteins.

Substantial advances have been made to develop efficient methods for synthesis of new antimicrobial peptides and their derivatives. These designed peptide modifications can be assayed for the desired antimicrobial activity. By molecular engineering techniques, their properties can be improved regarding the pathogen specificity, the toxic side effect and the range of action.

The novel AMPs originate from naturally occurring peptides via synthetic modifications. It is well known that the most natural AMPs have nonspecific toxicity against plant or animal cells at certain concentration levels. This adverse effect can be avoided by modulation and redesigned of the natural AMPs. Membrane-active AMPs cecropins, magainins, and melittin have toxic properties, which make their practical use very difficult (55). Cecropins are the first class of AMPs in which activity ratio against microbes versus toxicity to plant cells, was modulated. The primary sequences of cecropin B analogs: SB-37 and Shiva-1 were engineered in a way that reduced their toxicity to plant protoplasts (52, 56).

Transgenic plants with broad-spectrum resistance to bacterial and fungal phytopathogens were created by combining two or more AMPs genes. In one study, a synthetic gene coding cecropin-melittin cationic hybrids chimera (MsrA1) is expressed in two potato cultivars Desiree and Russet Burbank (53). The potato cultivars demonstrated very high resistance to bacterial and fungal phytopathogens.

Expression of multiple genes in a single open reading frame (ORF) is an alternative approach for combining desirable AMPs in a single polyprotein. This method is exploited from several animal Picornavirus and plant Potyviruses. Their polyproteins are processed co-translationally and post-translationally to mature forms by virus-encoded proteases (57). In an experiment, the Foot-and-mouth disease virus (FMDV) 2A protein, which is responsible for the 'cleavage' at its carboxyl-terminus, is used as cleavage of artificial polyproteins (58). Multiple copies of chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) and  $\beta$ -glucuronidase (GUS) genes were fused in a single open reading frame (ORF) with a copy of the 2A protein gene between them. The ORF construct was expressed in transgenic tobacco plants. Consistent detection in the transgenic tobacco of CAT and GUS proteins with efficiency ranged from 80% to 100% proved that FMDV 2A protease functioned properly in plant cells. This work proved that creating a single ORF gene construct with merged multiple AMPs genes can be used in transgenic plants for efficient protection against various plant pathogens.

In an effort to achieve stronger resistance than our previous work with lactoferrin and lactoferricin, we fused the lactoferricin domain of lactoferrin with multiple active domains of other AMPs using FMDV 2A protease. Transgenic tobacco and tomato plants were generated from these constructs and grown several generations to obtain homozygous lines. In this work four selected lines were tested for resistance against three economically important fungal pathogens.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### Multi-domain lytic peptide constructs and transgenic lines

Previous work in our laboratory generated several multi-domain constructs by fusing two synthetic or naturally occurring AMPs with lactoferricin. A large number of transgenic tobacco and tomato lines were obtained expressing these constructs. Seeds from four transgenic tobacco lines were used in this work to obtain plants and to test them for fungal disease resistance.

#### Preparation of transgenic and control Nicotiana benthamiana plants

# Seeds sterilization

In this study, six *N. benthamiana* lines have been used: four transgenic lines containing lytic peptide genes (ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12) along with one empty vector line containing a viral gene construct (1234) in the same binary construct, and one wild type control non-transgenic (WT) line. Seeds were sterilized by the following protocol: First seeds were placed in 2 ml Eppendorf tubes. One milliliter of 10 % solution of commercial bleach (NaOCl) was added to each tube. The seeds were immersed for five minutes. After removal of bleach from the tubes, the seeds were washed with distilled water three times. Washed seeds were immersed in 70% Ethanol for 30 seconds followed by three washes with distilled water. The distilled water was removed carefully from the Eppendorf tubes with a pipette.

# Seeds Germination on Murashige-Skoog Solid Plant Media

The seeds were placed in magenta boxes on 50 ml Murashige-Skoog (MS) solid plant media (Murashige-Skoog Plant Media: MS Salt 4.3 g, B1 — Inositol (1 g Inositol, 10 mg Thiamin HCl, 100 ml ddH<sub>2</sub>O) 10 ml, Millers I (6g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 100ml ddH<sub>2</sub>O) 3 ml, Sucrose 30 g and Phytagar 8 g per Liter having pH 5.8) under aseptic condition in a Laminar Air Flow chamber. After placement on to the MS media, the seeds were streaked gently with a sterile glass loop. Antibiotic Kanamycin was added (100 mg per liter) to the MS media for transgenic plant seeds ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 and empty vector control 1234. No antibiotics were added in MS media for the wild type control (WT) plant seeds.

Magenta boxes were placed in a plant growth chamber at 26 °C. The first germination was detected ten days after placing the seeds on MS media. The plants were kept in the magenta boxes for forty-five days after germination.

### **Transfer of the seedlings from magenta boxes to pots**

After forty-five days of growth in magenta boxes, the plants were transplanted in 500 cm<sup>3</sup> pots filled with soil. Each pot was filled with approximately 400 cm<sup>3</sup> steamdissinfested potting soil (The potting mix was prepared in the UNL Plant Pathology Greenhouse staff). A single plant was placed in each pot. Ten plants were prepared for each transgenic line and the wild type control. The pots were watered gently after planting. All plants were placed in a room with a steady temperature of 23 °C, ~30% relative humidity, and artificial lighting with a day/night ratio of 14h/10h.

# Neomycin phosphotransferase II Enzyme-linked-Immunosorbent Assay (NPTII ELISA)

Neomycin phosphotransferase II (NPTII) is a selectable marker gene used in the transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, and empty vector control 1234. Seven days after the seedlings transfer to the pots, the presence of the NPTII protein product was qualitatively evaluated by an ELISA assay using an NPTII (Neomycin phosphotransferase II) ELISA kit from Agdia, Inc (52642 Co Rd 1, Elkhart, IN 46514). Leaf biomass from each plant was planced in an Eppendorf tube. The biomass was ground in the tubes with the presence of 1x PEB1 extraction buffer in a 1:10 ratio (tissue weight in grams: buffer volume in milliliters).

One hundred  $\mu$ l of prepared samples were dispensed into the sample wells. The negative control well was filled with 100  $\mu$ l of 1x Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS). The sample wells were incubated overnight (16 hours) in the humid box at temperature 4 °C). After incubation, wells were washed seven times with 1x PBS buffer. 100  $\mu$ l enzyme conjugate (mixed one-part MRS-2 component to four-part 1x PBS buffer and enzyme conjugate bottles A and B with dilutions 1:100 for each bottle) was dispensed in the cleaned wells. The wells were incubated for two hours in the humid box at room temperature, ~ 23 °C. After the incubation, cells were washed eight times with 1x PBS buffer. 100  $\mu$ l of TNB substrate solution was dispensed in the washed wells. The wells were incubated for fifteen minutes in the humid box at room temperature. The results were evaluated after the incubation.

# **DNA extraction from plants**

The DNA from the transgenic plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, 1234 empty vector control, and WT control was extracted by use of Thermo Fisher Plant DNAzol Reagent. For this procedure, the protocol provided by the manufacturer was used. The samples were ground using a mortar and pestle. After the pulverization, tissue was moved into Eppendorf tubes by using a sterile spatula. The Eppendorf tubes contained tissues were weighed on a scale as the scale was tared by the weight of an empty tube. 300  $\mu$ l plant DNAzol was added in each Eppendorf tube per 100 mg plant tissue, mixed thoroughly and incubated for five minutes at 25 °C by shaking. After incubation, 300 µl of chloroform was added to each tube and mixed by vortex for approximately 30 seconds, then incubated for five minutes at 25 °C with shaking, followed by centrifugation at 12000 RPM at 4 °C for 10 minutes. The supernatant was transferred into a fresh Eppendorf tube and mixed with 225 µl of 100 % ethanol for DNA precipitation. The samples were inverted eight times and then incubated at room temperature for five minutes. Subsequently, the tubes were centrifuged at 5000 RPM for four minutes, and the resulted supernatant was discarded and the DNA pellet retained. The DNA pellets were washed with 300 µl Plant DNAzol-ethanol wash (mix of 1 volume DNAzol with 0.75 volume 100% ethanol) and the tubes were vortexed and incubated for five minutes, then centrifuged at 5000 RPM for 4 minutes and the supernatant was removed. The same washing step was repeated two more times. Following the washing steps, 300 µl of 75 % ethanol was added to the tubes, vortexed and then centrifuged at 5000 RPM for 4 minutes. The supernatant was removed, and the tubes were stored vertically for five minutes to remove the remaining ethanol. If some ethanol still existed in the tubes, it was removed with a micro-pipette. Finally, 70 µl TE (Tris —

EDTA) buffer was added in the tubes for dissolving DNA. The tubes were stored at -80 °C for further analysis.

# **DNA quality check**

The quality of extracted DNA was checked by 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis.

#### Neomycin phosphotransferase II - Polymerase Chain Reaction (NPTII - PCR)

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) assay was performed for the transgenic plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, 1234 empty vector control, and WT control, targeting Neomycin phosphotransferase II (*NPTII*) selectable marker gene. GoTaq® Green Master Mix (bacterial derived Taq DNA polymerase, dNTPs, MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and reaction buffers) was used following manufacturer's instructions. 2 µl DNA of each transgenic plant sample was added to18 µl reaction mixture containing 6 µl ddH<sub>2</sub>O, 1 µl Forward Primer, 1 µl Reverse Primer along with 10 µl GoTaq® Green Master Mix. The NPTII primers had the following sequence: Forward Primer; 221 5'-GAGGCTATTCGGCTATGAC-3', Reverse Primer 921 5'-ATCGGGAGCGGCGATACCG-3' (The primers were designed by Mitra Lab). The thermal cycle was set to: 1) 94 °C for 3 min., 2) 94 °C for 30 sec., 3) 55 °C for 40 sec., 4) 72 °C for 1 min. 40 sec., 5) 72 °C for seven min., 6) 4 °C forever, and steps two, three and four were repeated 35 times. The size of the amplified fragment of the NPTII tn5 gene was 700 bp.

# Lytic peptide gene - Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) assay was performed for the transgenic plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, targeting lytic peptide gene. GoTaq® Green Master Mix solution which contains bacterial derived Taq DNA polymerase, dNTPs, MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and reaction buffers has been used for this assay. Sample were prepared by the protocol provided by the GoTaq® Green Master Mix manufacture. Each sample had a final volume of 20 µl: 2 µl template DNA, 6 µl ddH<sub>2</sub>O, 1 µl Forward Primer, 1 µl Reverse Primer, and 10 µl GoTaq® Green Master Mix. The thermal cycle was set to: 1) 94°C for 3 min., 2) 94°C for 30 sec., 3) 55°C for 40 sec., 4) 72°C for 1min. 40 sec., 5) 72°C for 7 min., 6) 4°C forever, and steps 2, 3 and 4 were repeated 35 times altogether during the cycle.

Primer's sequences:

Primer	Sequence
ORF13	F 5' GGC TGT TCT TTG GGC TCT TA 3'
	R 5' CCC CTA ACG GAA AAC ACA GC 3'
RSA1	F 5' GGA AGG GGA TTT TCT GCT GC 3'
	R 5' GCA GCC TCT CTT TCT TCA GC 3'
CN77	F 5' GCT CTT TAC AGG GGA TGC CT 3'
	R 5' CCC TCA CAC CAT CCA CGA TT 3'
ORF12	F 5' GCT ACT GGA ACT TCT GCT GC 3'
	R 5' TCA AGG CTG ATT ACC TCC CC 3'

Table 1. Primer sequences used to amplify Lytic peptide genes. The primers weredesigned by Mitra Lab.

# Agarose gel electrophoresis

The amplified DNA product was analyzed with 1% agarose gel (100 mg Agarose to 100 ml 1x Tris-Borate-EDTA buffer, and 0.6  $\mu$ l Ethidium Bromide solution 10 mg/ml) electrophoresis for 100 minutes.

# **Detached-leaf bioassay**

Detached-leaf bioassay was performed to screen the transgenic plants ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 carrying the lytic peptide genes, empty vector control plants 1234, and wild type control (WT) plants against three fungal pathogens: *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, Rhizoctonia solani, Pythium* sp.

*Rhizoctonia solani* is a soil borne plant pathogenic basidiomycete fungus. It has wide range hosts. *Rhizoctonia solani* attacking primarily the roots and lower stems of plants and cause serious plant losses especially during seedling stage.

Sclerotinia sclerotiorum is a plant pathogenic ascomycete fungus. It causes diseases known as white mold, cottony rot, soft rot or stem rot. Sclerotinia sclerotiorum has a wide host range in different life-stages. The disease can spread very quickly from plant to plant in the field. It can affect crops in the storage facilities after harvest. Common crops which are affected and suffer deleterious economic impacts are soybeans, cannola and peanuts.

*Pythium* species are fungus-like eukaryotic microorganisms belonging to the parasitic oomycetes. Formally they were classified as fungi. *Pythium* cause diseases with economic importance such as root rots.

Each transgenic variety contained ten plants. For this experiment, two detached leaves per plant were used. Each bioassay had three replications per plant from each line. Sixty experiments for each plant lines per pathogen have been performed. The pathogens were grown in a petri dish on a solid Potato Dextrose Agar media (PDA) (39 g PDA powder to 11iter ddH<sub>2</sub>O autoclaved on 120 °C for 20 minutes). The PDA powder was procured from Sigma-Aldrich company. Sclerotinia sclerotiorum and Rhizoctonia solani were grown for

four days on the media before the experiment. *Pythium* sp. was grown for two days on the media before the experiment. By using a sterile glass tube, 8 mm plugs were cut in the media after the growth of the pathogen for use as inoculum, see below. The detached leaves were placed in a plastic container with high humidity. Containers size is: 40 cm L x 31.8 cm W x 6 cm H. The inoculation was performed by use of sterile tweezers. Plugs were transferred to the leaves with the pathogen on the upper surface of the plug. The plugs' position on the leaves were approximately 15 mm down from the tip of each leaf. After the inoculation, containers were sealed with a transparent plastic wrap. Sealed containers were moved in a temperature-controlled room with an artificial light with a day/night ratio 14h/10h. The experiments with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* and *Rhizoctonia solani* were incubated for three days after inoculation. The *Pythium* sp. experiment was incubated for two days after inoculation.

# **Data collection**

After incubation, leaves were photographed on a scaled photographic field. Each photo was processed with a graphics editor by marking the infected area of each leaf with a single color and the background color was changed to white. Compu Eye software was used (59) to measure the symptom area of each leaf quantitatively with high accuracy. The result of measuring the infected area as well as the total area was recorded in square millimeters.

# RESULTS

# Seeds Germination on Murashige-Skoog Solid Plant Media

The wild type control *Nicotiana benthamiana* seeds were germinated in magenta boxes with 50 ml solid Murashige-Skoog (MS) plant media. The transgenic plant seeds from lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, and transgenic vector control were germinated on modified MS media with Kanamycin antibiotic. The first germination was observed ten days after the sowing. The plants were kept in the magenta boxes for forty-five days after germination. During that period the plants were in good health and had an excellent growth rate with no signs of discoloration or fading (Fig. 1). The transgenic lytic peptide lines and the transgenic control line grew on Kanamycin fortified MS solid media confirming that the plants carried the *Neomycin phosphotransferase II* marker gene and linked lytic peptide genes (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Aseptically grown ORF12 transgenic tobacco lines in magenta boxes. Plants show normal growth and development.

# Neomycin phosphotransferase II Enzyme-linked-Immunosorbent Assay (NPTII ELISA)

The enzyme activity of NPTII selectable marker gene was evaluated qualitatively with an Enzyme-Linked-Immunosorbent Assay for the transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, transgenic vector control and wild type (WT) control plants. This test was performed using Agdia NPTII (Neomycin phosphotransferase II) ELISA kit. All transgenic lines: ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, vector control (1234), showed positive results for the existence of *Neomycin phosphotransferase II* marker gene in the plant's genome. According to the protocol, the appearance of blue color in the test wells is an indication for a positive result. Blue color is seen in the test wells of the transgenic plants' lines (Fig. 2 and Fig. 3). No color was present in the test wells for the wild type control plants and the negative control (Fig. 2 and Fig. 3).



Figure 2. NPTII ELISA assay of transgenic and control plants. The blue colored wells indicate positive result. Marks on the photo correspond with the tested plant varieties.



Figure 3. NPTII ELISA assay of transgenic and control plants. The blue colored wells indicate positive result. Marks on the photo, correspond with the tested plant varieties.

# **Plant DNA extraction**

DNA was extracted from the transgenic plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, vector control (1234) and WT control. The quality of extracted DNA was tested on 0.75% agarose gel (750 mg Agarose to 100 ml x1 Tris-Borate-EDTA buffer and 0.6 $\mu$ l of Ethidium Bromide solution 10 mg/ml) electrophoresis was for 80 minutes. The gel showed that the quality of the DNA was adequate (Fig. 4 to Fig. 8).


Figure 4. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 5. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 6. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.

) 1 Kb ladder	WT 07	WT 08	1234 05	1234 06	CN77 07	CN77 08	ORF12 06	ORF12 07	RSA1 07	RSA1 08	ORF13 07	ORF13 08	

Figure 7. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 8. Extracted DNA was evaluated using agarose gel electrophoresis. The photo shows an adequate quality of the DNA. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.

# Polymerase Chain Reaction to amplify *Neomycin phosphotransferase II* selectable marker gene (NPTII – PCR)

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) assay was performed for the transgenic plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 and vector control (1234) along with WT control, targeting the *Neomycin phosphotransferase II* (*NPTII*) selectable marker gene. All samples of the transgenic plants expressed positive results for the *NPTII* marker gene. The transgenic control plants which containing vector control (1234) also showed positive results for the *NPTII* marker gene. All samples were analyzed on 1.00% agarose gel (1000 mg Agarose to 100 ml 1x Tris-Borate-EDTA buffer and 0.6 µl of Ethidium Bromide solution 10 mg/ml) electrophoresis at 100V and 50 amps was for 90 minutes. All *NPTII* positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel (Fig. 9 to Fig.14). All samples from wild type *N*. *benthamiana* plants displayed negative results for the NPTII marker gene (Fig. 15 and Fig. 16).



Figure 9. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in ORF 13 plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 10. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in RSA1 plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 11. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in CN77 plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 12. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in ORF12 plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 13. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in vector control (1234) plants. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 14. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in CN77 02 and CN77 07 and RSA1 02. The analysis of these samples was repeated due to missing bands in the previous experiments. The positive samples showed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 15. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in WT control plants. The negative samples showed no band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.



Figure 16. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for *NPTII* gene in WT control plants. The negative samples showed no band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.

### Polymerase Chain Reaction to amplify Lytic peptide genes

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) assays were employed for the transgenic plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12. All four transgenic plant lines (ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12) depicted positive results regarding the targeted lytic peptide genes. Table 1 shows the size of each gene.

Gene	Size
ORF13	213 bp
RSA1	740 bp
CN77	799 bp
ORF12	390 bp

Table 2. Amplified length of Lytic peptide genes.

The PCR product was affirmed with the agarose gel electrophoresis. For all four transgenic plant line (ORF13, RSA1, CN77 and ORF12) samples, clear bands have been observed according to the expected amplicon size (Table 2), (see Fig. 17 to Fig. 21).



Figure 17. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for ORF13 lytic peptide gene. The positive samples showed a clear band at 213 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the PCR amplification from different ORF13 transgenic lines along with the molecular weight marker (1 kb ladder).



Figure 18. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for RSA1 lytic peptide gene. The positive samples showed a clear band at 740 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the PCR amplification from different RSA1 transgenic lines along with the molecular weight marker (1 kb ladder).



Figure 19. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for CN77 lytic peptide gene. The positive samples showed a clear band at 799 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the PCR amplification from different CN77 transgenic lines along with the molecular weight marker (1 kb ladder).

ORF12 02	ORF12 03	ORF12 04	ORF12 05	ORF12 06	ORF12 07	ORF12 08	ORF12 09	ORF12 10	CONTROL (-)	CONTROL (+)	1 kb ladder
					U			-			

Figure 20. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for ORF12 lytic peptide gene. The positive samples showed a clear band at 390 bp region on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the PCR amplification from different ORF12 transgenic lines along with the molecular weight marker (1 kb ladder).



Figure 21. Agarose gel showing PCR amplification for CN77 and RSA1 lytic peptides genes. The analysis was repeated for these samples due to missing bands in previous experiments. The positive samples showed a clear band at 799 bp region for CN77 and 740 bp region for RSA1 on the agarose gel. Lanes indicate the molecular weight marker (1 Kb ladder) and genomic DNA samples from respective plants.

#### **Detached-leaf Bioassay Experiment**

Detached-leaf bioassay was performed for the transgenic plants carrying multi-domain lytic peptide constructs ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, transgenic vector control plants (1234), and wild control plants WT, against three fungal pathogens: *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, Rhizoctonia solani,* and *Pythium* sp. The infected area of each leaf was measured, each individual measurement was recorded in square millimeters (mm<sup>2</sup>).

#### **Experimental design**

The goal of this experiment is to test four transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 for resistance to three fungal plant pathogens Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, Rhizoctonia solani, and Pythium sp. compared to vector control (1234) and WT lines.

Three fungal pathogens were tested sequentially for each plant. Three pseudo-replications have been performed for each pathogen. Two leaves from each plant were inoculated per experiment. The leaves from the same plants are not independent, so they are not true replicates, and they were named 'pseudo-replications'. Therefore, the affected area of the six leaves from the same plant were averaged to one response value, then 60 responses per tested pathogen. The experimental design is a completely randomized design (CRD), randomly assigning one plant variety to one pot.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom
Genotype	5
error	54
total	60-1=59

Table 3. Source of variations and degrees of freedom for the all three tested pathogens.



Table 4. The least square mean model equation used in the statistical analyses of the obtained data sets.

Variety name	Code
ORF13	ORF1
RSL1	RSL1
ORF12	ORF2
CN77	CN77
1234	CNTR2
WT	CNTR1

Table 5. Variety codes used in the statistical analyses and charts.



Figure 22. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) ORF13 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF13 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF13 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Figure 23. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) RSL1 leaf with a small infection severity. B) RSL1 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) RSL1 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Figure 24. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) CN77 leaf with a small infection severity. B) CN77 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) CN77 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Figure 25. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. A) ORF12 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF12 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF12 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.

	Variety Least Squares Means									
Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	<b>Pr</b> > t	Alpha	Lower	Upper		
CN77	830.17	111.11	53	7.47	<.0001	0.05	607.32	1053.02		
CNTR1	953.21	111.11	53	8.58	<.0001	0.05	730.36	1176.06		
CNTR2	838.23	111.11	53	7.54	<.0001	0.05	615.37	1061.08		
ORF1	537.98	111.11	53	4.84	<.0001	0.05	315.13	760.83		
ORF2	713.14	117.12	53	6.09	<.0001	0.05	478.23	948.04		
RSL1	416.18	111.11	53	3.75	0.0004	0.05	193.33	639.03		

The least square mean was calculated for all varieties (Table 6).

Table 6. Estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety.



Chart 1. *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* experiment. The estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate standard error.



Chart 2. *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* experiment. Least squares mean with confidential interval. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate the confidence interval.

All four transgenic plant varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 were compared to control wild type variety WT (Table 7).

	Differe Adjustme	nces of Va ent for Mu	riety Least Squai ltiple Compariso	res M ns: I	/leans Dunnett	
Variety	Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Adj P
CN77	CNTR1	-123.04	157.13	53	-0.78	0.8982
CNTR2	CNTR1	-114.98	157.13	53	-0.73	0.9203
ORF1	CNTR1	-415.23	157.13	53	-2.64	0.0444
ORF2	CNTR1	-240.07	161.43	53	-1.49	0.4397
RSL1	CNTR1	-537.03	157.13	53	-3.42	0.0055

Table 7. Estimated mean differences between wild type WT control and the transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.

Comparing the differences of the mean, ORF1 and RSL1 variety have significant smaller symptom area than the wild type control variety WT (Table 7). The transgenic plants demonstrated less susceptibility to the pathogen. The estimated p-values RSL1 = 0.0055, and ORF1 = 0.0444 with significance level alpha 0.05, indicates substantial difference comparing to the wild control variety.

The four transgenic plant varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 were compared to the transgenic control line 1234 (Table 8).

	Differe Adjustme	nces of Va ent for Mu	riety Least Squa ltiple Compariso	res M ns: I	Ieans Dunnett	
Variety	Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Adj P
CN77	CNTR2	-8.0586	157.13	53	-0.05	1.0000
CNTR1	CNTR2	114.98	157.13	53	0.73	0.9203
ORF1	CNTR2	-300.25	157.13	53	-1.91	0.2167
ORF2	CNTR2	-125.09	161.43	53	-0.77	0.9020
RSL1	CNTR2	-422.04	157.13	53	-2.69	0.0399

Table 8. Estimated mean differences between transgenic vector control 1234 and the lytic peptide transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.

Comparing the differences of the mean, RSL1 variety have significant smaller symptom area than the transgenic vector control variety 1234 (Table 8). This transgenic variety demonstrated less susceptibility to the pathogen. The estimated p-values RSL1= 0.0399 with significance level alpha 0.05, indicates substantial difference comparing to the transgenic control variety 1234.



Figure 26. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) ORF13 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF13 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF13 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Figure 27. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) RSL1 leaf with a small infection severity. B) RSL1 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) RSL1 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Figure 28. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) CN77 leaf with a small infection severity. B) CN77 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) CN77 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Е

Figure 29. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Rhizoctonia solani*. A) ORF12 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF12 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF12 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.

The least square mean was calculated for all varieties, four lytic peptides transgenic ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 and two controls 1234, WT (Table 9).

	Variety Least Squares Means									
Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	<b>Pr</b> >  t	Alpha	Lower	Upper		
CN77	489.09	61.9526	53	7.89	<.0001	0.05	364.83	613.35		
CNTR1	390.30	61.9526	53	6.30	<.0001	0.05	266.04	514.56		
CNTR2	498.84	61.9526	53	8.05	<.0001	0.05	374.58	623.10		
ORF1	299.63	61.9526	53	4.84	<.0001	0.05	175.37	423.89		
ORF2	702.10	65.3038	53	10.75	<.0001	0.05	571.12	833.08		
RSL1	345.43	61.9526	53	5.58	<.0001	0.05	221.17	469.69		

Table 9. Estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety.



Chart 3. *Rhizoctonia solani* experiment. The estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate standard error.



Chart 4. *Rhizoctonia solani* experiment. Least squares mean with confidential interval. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate the confidence interval.

All four transgenic lytic peptide plant varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 were compared to control wild type variety WT (Table 10).

	Differences of Variety Least Squares Means Adjustment for Multiple Comparisons: Dunnett									
Variety	Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Adj P				
CN77	CNTR1	98.7890	87.6142	53	1.13	0.6890				
CNTR2	CNTR1	108.54	87.6142	53	1.24	0.6099				
ORF1	CNTR1	-90.6706	87.6142	53	-1.03	0.7528				
ORF2	CNTR1	311.80	90.0151	53	3.46	0.0048				
RSL1	CNTR1	-44.8656	87.6142	53	-0.51	0.9810				

Table 10. Estimated mean differences between wild type WT control and the transgenic

varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.

The estimate mean values indicates no significant smaller symptom area for the transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 comparing to control the wild type WT (Table 10).

The four transgenic lytic peptide varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 were compared to the transgenic control line 1234 (Table 11).

	Differences of Variety Least Squares Means Adjustment for Multiple Comparisons: Dunnett								
Variety	Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Adj P			
CN77	CNTR2	-9.7526	87.6142	53	-0.11	1.0000			
CNTR1	CNTR2	-108.54	87.6142	53	-1.24	0.6099			
ORF1	CNTR2	-199.21	87.6142	53	-2.27	0.1041			
ORF2	CNTR2	203.26	90.0151	53	2.26	0.1076			
RSL1	CNTR2	-153.41	87.6142	53	-1.75	0.2887			

Table 11. Estimated mean differences between transgenic control 1234 and the lytic peptide transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.

The comparison analysis of the mean indicates no significant smaller symptom area for the transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 comparing to the transgenic control line 1234 (Table 11).


## E

Figure 30. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) ORF13 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF13 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF13 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



E

Figure 31. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) RSL1 leaf with a small infection severity. B) RSL1 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) RSL1 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



E

Figure 32. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) CN77 leaf with a small infection severity. B) CN77 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) CN77 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.



Е

Figure 33. Comparison of detached leaves of *Nicotiana benthamiana* inoculated with *Pythium* sp. A) ORF12 leaf with a small infection severity. B) ORF12 leaf with a moderate infection severity. C) ORF12 leaf with a high infection severity. D) Wild Type leaf with high infection severity. E) Vector control (1234) leaf with high infection severity.

The least square mean was estimated for all varieties in the *Pythium* sp. experiment (Table 12).

Variety Least Squares Means								
Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	<b>Pr</b> >  t	Alpha	Lower	Upper
CN77	1257.12	79.4394	52	15.82	<.0001	0.05	1097.71	1416.52
CNTR1	864.45	79.4394	52	10.88	<.0001	0.05	705.05	1023.86
CNTR2	1012.26	79.4394	52	12.74	<.0001	0.05	852.86	1171.67
ORF1	1035.43	79.4394	52	13.03	<.0001	0.05	876.03	1194.84
ORF2	1055.42	88.8159	52	11.88	<.0001	0.05	877.19	1233.64
RSL1	1019.90	79.4394	52	12.84	<.0001	0.05	860.49	1179.31

Table 12. Estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety.



Chart 5. *Pythium* sp. experiment. The estimated Least Squares Means and the Standard Error for each variety. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate standard error.



Chart 6. *Pythium* sp. experiment. Least squares mean with confidential interval. The blue bars indicate estimated Squares Means for the varieties, the red bars indicate the confidence interval.

The four transgenic lytic peptide plant varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 were compared to control wild type variety WT (Table 13).

Differences of Variety Least Squares Means Adjustment for Multiple Comparisons: Dunnett							
Variety	Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Adj P	
CN77	CNTR1	392.66	112.34	52	3.50	0.0044	
CNTR2	CNTR1	147.81	112.34	52	1.32	0.5577	
ORF1	CNTR1	170.98	112.34	52	1.52	0.4197	
ORF2	CNTR1	190.96	119.16	52	1.60	0.3708	
RSL1	CNTR1	155.44	112.34	52	1.38	0.5106	

Table 13. Estimated mean differences between wild type WT control and the transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.

The differences of the mean calculation indicate no significant smaller symptom area for the transgenic lytic peptide lines comparing to control the wild type WT (Table 13). All four transgenic lytic peptide plant lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 were

Differences of Variety Least Squares Means Adjustment for Multiple Comparisons: Dunnett							
Variety	Variety	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Adj P	
CN77	CNTR2	244.85	112.34	52	2.18	0.1281	
CNTR1	CNTR2	-147.81	112.34	52	-1.32	0.5577	
ORF1	CNTR2	23.1702	112.34	52	0.21	0.9997	
ORF2	CNTR2	43.1524	119.16	52	0.36	0.9960	
RSL1	CNTR2	7.6358	112.34	52	0.07	1.0000	

compared to the transgenic control line 1234 (Table 14).

Table 14. Estimated mean differences between transgenic control 1234 and the lytic peptide transgenic varieties ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12.

The statistical analysis disclosed no significant smaller symptom area for the transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12 comparing to the transgenic vector control line 1234 (Table 14).

## DISCUSSION

Many organisms produced small proteins which exhibit antimicrobial activities. In recent decades, the biological role of antimicrobial peptides (AMP) was recognized as the main factor in the defense mechanisms against a broad range of pathogenic microbes. The increased incidence of antimicrobial resistance worldwide due to overuse of antibiotics and pesticides makes AMPs promising alternative for the treatment of microbial disease.

In the last decades, the design of novel non-natural APMs is an option for use in agriculture for crops' improvement. The designed AMPs have enhanced properties against wide spectrum of pathogens while they have low non-specific toxicity, good stability, and bioavailability. By exploring the potential of the AMPs in the crop production, could lead to the development of new, improved cultivars which are resistant to various pathogenic diseases. In the present study, four different lytic peptide genes, which codes for antimicrobial peptides, transformed and expressing in tobacco plants were tested against three fungal pathogens: Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, Rhizoctonia solani, and Pythium sp. The resistance of tobacco plant transformants was examined in-vivo with a detached leaves bioassay.

For this study, seeds of four transgenic homozygous N. benthamiana tobacco plants varieties containing lytic peptide genes, one vector control transgenic non-lytic peptide gene tobacco plant variety, and one control wild type N. benthamiana tobacco plant variety were germinated on solid Murashige-Skoog (MS) plant media.

All transgenic varieties were tested through germination on modified MS plant media with Kanamycin antibiotic. The transgenic plant lines did not show any toxic effect during the germination and post-germination period. The observation of the plants showed normal growth and development. There had no discoloration or fading. That experiment proved the existence of NPTII selectable marker gene in the plants' genome.

The NPTII selectable marker gene was evaluated qualitatively with an Enzyme-Linked-Immunosorbent Assay. The obtained results proved the NPTII selectable marker presence in plant genome. The results of Enzyme-Linked-Immunosorbent Assay was confirmed by Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Assay. All transgenic plant lines expressed positive results for Neomycin phosphotransferase II marker gene in their genome. The tested samples revealed a clear band at 700 bp region on the agarose gel.

The DNA of the transgenic lines ORF13, RSA1, CN77, ORF12, carrying non-plant multilytic peptide genes, were tested with a Polymerase Chain Reaction assay by using a specific primer for the respective genes. The presence of the lytic peptide genes was determined in all transgenic lines' genome. The tested samples indicated clear band with accordance to amplified length of the lytic peptide genes.

In a previous research, transgenic plant lines with expressed cationic peptides with broadspectrum antimicrobial activity demonstrated powerful resistance to bacterial and fungal phytopathogens (53). In a study with transgenic tobacco plants expressing an antimicrobial bovine lactoferrin gene, a detached leaf assay proved the potential of the AMPs against fungal pathogens (50). In the current work, a detached leaf assay was performed to test the effect of expressed multi-lytic peptides on three fungal pathogens: *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, Rhizoctonia solani,* and *Pythium* sp. The results clearly showed that transgenic plant lines ORF13 and RSL1 have substantial resistance to Sclerotinia sclerotiorum infection by producing significantly smaller symptom area compared to control vector plant line 1234 and WT. The statistical analyzes confirmed the results of the bioassay. Estimated least square mean p-values respectively for the varieties RSL1(0.0055) and ORF1 (0.0444) showed significant difference in the infected area comparing to the control WT. Similar result was observed with RSL1 variety which demonstrated less susceptibility to the pathogen. Estimated p-values RSL1 (0.0399) indicated substantial difference comparing to the transgenic control variety 1234.

The experiments with the other two pathogens *Rhizoctonia solani*, and *Pythium* sp. did not develop significant smaller necrotic area comparing to two controls. Statistical analysis also confirmed these results.

In conclusion, non-plant multi-lytic peptide confers resistance against *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*, causing economically important white mold infection on plants. Further studies are necessary to confirm the potential of the non-plant multi-lytic peptides for control of plant diseases.

## REFERENCES

- Malanovic, Nermina, and Karl Lohner. "Gram-positive bacterial cell envelopes: The impact on the activity of antimicrobial peptides." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1858.5 (2016): 936-946.
- Nikaido, Hiroshi, and Taiji Nakae. "The outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria." *Advances in microbial physiology*. Vol. 20. Academic Press, 1980. 163-250.
- Kamio, Yoshiyuki, and Hiroshi Nikaido. "Outer membrane of Salmonella typhimurium: accessibility of phospholipid head groups to phospholipase c and cyanogen bromide activated dextran in the external medium."*Biochemistry* 15.12 (1976): 2561-2570.
- 4. Hancock, Ri EW. "Alterations in outer membrane permeability."*Annual review of microbiology* 38.1 (1984): 237-264.
- 5. Anunthawan, Thitiporn, et al. "Cationic amphipathic peptides KT2 and RT2 are taken up into bacterial cells and kill planktonic and biofilm bacteria."*Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1848.6 (2015): 1352-1358.
- 6. Latgé, Jean-Paul. "The cell wall: a carbohydrate armour for the fungal cell.
  "Molecular microbiology 66.2 (2007): 279-290.

- 7. Matejuk, A., et al. "Peptide-based antifungal therapies against emerging infections." *Drugs of the Future* 35.3 (2010): 197.
- Shai, Yechiel. "Mode of action of membrane active antimicrobial peptides." *Peptide Science: Original Research on Biomolecules* 66.4 (2002): 236-248.
- Matsuzaki, Katsumi, et al. "An antimicrobial peptide, magainin 2, induced rapid flip-flop of phospholipids coupled with pore formation and peptide translocation." *Biochemistry* 35.35 (1996): 11361-11368.
- Yamaguchi, Satoru, et al. "Solid-state NMR investigations of peptide– lipid interaction and orientation of a β-sheet antimicrobial peptide, protegrin." *Biochemistry* 41.31 (2002): 9852-9862.
- Brogden, Kim A. "Antimicrobial peptides: pore formers or metabolic inhibitors in bacteria?." *Nature reviews microbiology* 3.3 (2005): 238.
- 12. Matsuzaki, Katsumi, et al. "Relationship of membrane curvature to the formation of pores by magainin 2." *Biochemistry* 37.34 (1998): 11856-11863.
- Brown, Kelly L., and Robert EW Hancock. "Cationic host defense (antimicrobial) peptides." *Current opinion in immunology* 18.1 (2006): 24-30.

- Dubos, René J., and Carlo Cattaneo. "Studies on a bactericidal agent extracted from a soil bacillus: III. Preparation and activity of a protein-free fraction." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 70.3 (1939): 249-256.
- 15. Gause, G. F., and M. G. Brazhnikova. "Gramicidin S and its use in the treatment of infected wounds." *Nature* 154.3918 (1944): 703.
- Van Epps, Heather L. "René Dubos: unearthing antibiotics." *The Journal of experimental medicine* 203.2 (2006): 259.
- Kaas, Quentin, et al. "Antimicrobial peptides in plants." *Antimicrobial Peptides:* Discovery, Design, and Novel Therapeutic Strategies (2010): 40-71.
- Davies, Julian. "Where have all the antibiotics gone?." *Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology* 17.5 (2006): 287-290.
- Katz, Martin L., et al. "Where have all the antibiotic patents gone?." *Nature biotechnology* 24.12 (2006): 1529.
- 20. Hirsch, James G. "Phagocytin: a bactericidal substance from polymorphonuclear leucocytes." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 103.5 (1956): 589-611.

- Zeya, H. I., and J. K. Spitznagel. "Cationic proteins of polymorphonuclear leukocyte lysosomes II. Composition, properties, and mechanism of antibacterial action." *Journal of bacteriology* 91.2 (1966): 755-762.
- 22. Kiss, G., and H. Michl. "Uber das Giftsekret der Gelbbauchunke, Bombina variegata L." *Toxicon* 1.1 (1962): 33-34.
- 23. Groves, M. L., R. F. Peterson, and C. A. Kiddy. "Polymorphism in the red protein isolated from milk of individual cows." *Nature* 207.5000 (1965): 1007.
- 24. Levy, Ofer. "Antimicrobial proteins and peptides: anti-infective molecules of mammalian leukocytes." *Journal of leukocyte biology* 76.5 (2004): 909-925..
- 25. Selsted, Michael E., et al. "Primary structures of six antimicrobial peptides of rabbit peritoneal neutrophils." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 260.8 (1985): 4579-4584.
- 26. Selsted, M. E., D. Szklarek, and R. I. Lehrer. "Purification and antibacterial activity of antimicrobial peptides of rabbit granulocytes." *Infection and immunity* 45.1 (1984): 150-154.

- 27. Ganz, Tomas, et al. "Defensins. Natural peptide antibiotics of human neutrophils." *The Journal of clinical investigation* 76.4 (1985): 1427-1435.
- Steiner, Håkan, et al. "Sequence and specificity of two antibacterial proteins involved in insect immunity. Nature 292: 246-248. 1981." *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*)182.11 (2009): 6635-7.
- 29. Selsted, Michael E., et al. "Purification, primary structures, and antibacterial activities of beta-defensins, a new family of antimicrobial peptides from bovine neutrophils." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268.9 (1993): 6641-6648.
- 30. Brogden, Kim A., Mark Ackermann, and Kenneth M. Huttner. "Small, anionic, and charge-neutralizing propeptide fragments of zymogens are antimicrobial." *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* 41.7 (1997): 1615-1617.
- 31. Benkerroum, Noreddine. "Antimicrobial activity of lysozyme with special relevance to milk." *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7.25 (2008): 4856-4867.
- 32. Ganz, Tomas. "The role of antimicrobial peptides in innate immunity." *Integrative and comparative biology* 43.2 (2003): 300-304.

- 33. Lemaitre, Bruno, et al. "The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spätzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults." *Cell* 86.6 (1996): 973-983.
- 34. Lee, Jung Kwon, et al. "Characterization of bioactive peptides obtained from marine invertebrates." *Advances in food and nutrition research*. Vol. 65.
   Academic Press, 2012. 47-72.
- 35. Sperstad, Sigmund V., et al. "Antimicrobial peptides from marine invertebrates: challenges and perspectives in marine antimicrobial peptide discovery." *Biotechnology advances* 29.5 (2011): 519-530.
- Hancock, Robert EW, Kelly L. Brown, and Neeloffer Mookherjee. "Host defence peptides from invertebrates–emerging antimicrobial strategies." *Immunobiology* 211.4 (2006): 315-322.
- 37. Bulet, Philippe, Reto Stöcklin, and Laure Menin. "Anti-microbial peptides: from invertebrates to vertebrates." *Immunological reviews* 198.1 (2004): 169-184.
- 38. Amiche, Mohamed, and Cecile Galanth. "Dermaseptins as models for the elucidation of membrane-acting helical amphipathic antimicrobial peptides." *Current pharmaceutical biotechnology* 12.8 (2011): 1184-1193.

- 39. Thomas, Priya, et al. "A mini review on the antimicrobial peptides isolated from the genus Hylarana (Amphibia: Anura) with a proposed nomenclature for amphibian skin peptides." *Molecular biology reports* 39.6 (2012): 6943-6947.
- 40. Fernandez, David I., John D. Gehman, and Frances Separovic. "Membrane interactions of antimicrobial peptides from Australian frogs." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1788.8 (2009): 1630-1638.
- 41. Nicolas, Pierre, and Chahrazade El Amri. "The dermaseptin superfamily: a genebased combinatorial library of antimicrobial peptides." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1788.8 (2009): 1537-1550.
- 42. Zasloff, Michael. "Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms." *Nature* 415.6870 (2002): 389.
- 43. Bevins, Charles L., and Nita H. Salzman. "Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis." *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 9.5 (2011): 356.

- 44. Wiesner, Jochen, and Andreas Vilcinskas. "Antimicrobial peptides: the ancient arm of the human immune system." *Virulence* 1.5 (2010): 440-464.
- 45. Cederlund, Andreas, Gudmundur H. Gudmundsson, and Birgitta Agerberth.
  "Antimicrobial peptides important in innate immunity." *The FEBS journal* 278.20 (2011): 3942-3951.
- 46. Pasupuleti, Mukesh, Artur Schmidtchen, and Martin Malmsten. "Antimicrobial peptides: key components of the innate immune system." *Critical reviews in biotechnology* 32.2 (2012): 143-171.
- 47. Alavanja, Michael CR. "Introduction: Pesticides use and exposure, extensive worldwide." *Reviews on environmental health* 24.4 (2009): 303-310.
- Zhang, Zhanyuan, et al. "Expression of human lactoferrin cDNA confers resistance to Ralstonia solanacearum in transgenic tobacco plants." *Phytopathology* 88.7 (1998): 730-734.
- Lee, Tae-Jin, et al. "Partial resistance to bacterial wilt in transgenic tomato plants expressing antibacterial lactoferrin gene." *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 127.2 (2002): 158-164.

- 50. Nguyen, Trung C., et al. "Transgenic plants expressing antimicrobial lactoferrin protein are resistant to a fungal pathogen." *Journal of Plant Molecular Biology and Biotechnology* 2.1 (2010): 1-8.
- 51. Balaji, Vasudevan, and Christine D. Smart. "Over-expression of snakin-2 and extensin-like protein genes restricts pathogen invasiveness and enhances tolerance to Clavibacter michiganensis subsp. michiganensis in transgenic tomato (Solanum lycopersicum)." *Transgenic research* 21.1 (2012): 23-37.
- 52. Jaynes, Jesse M., et al. "Expression of a cecropin B lytic peptide analog in transgenic tobacco confers enhanced resistance to bacterial wilt caused by Pseudomonas solanacearum." *Plant Science* 89.1 (1993): 43-53.
- 53. Osusky, Milan, et al. "Transgenic plants expressing cationic peptide chimeras exhibit broad-spectrum resistance to phytopathogens." *Nature biotechnology* 18.11 (2000): 1162.
- 54. Han, Jigang, et al. "Transgenic expression of lactoferrin imparts enhanced resistance to head blight of wheat caused by Fusarium graminearum." BMC plant biology 12.1 (2012): 33.
- 55. Bechinger, Burkhard. "Structure and function of membrane-lytic peptides."Critical reviews in plant sciences 23.3 (2004): 271-292.

- 56. Nordeen, Russell O., et al. "Activity of cecropin SB37 against protoplasts from several plant species and their bacterial pathogens." Plant Science 82.1 (1992): 101-107.
- 57. Riechmann, José Luis, Sonia Laín, and Juan Antonio García. "Highlights and prospects of potyvirus molecular biology." Journal of General Virology 73.1 (1992): 1-16.
- 58. Ma, Chonglie, and Amitava Mitra. "Expressing multiple genes in a single open reading frame with the 2A region of foot-and-mouth disease virus as a linker."
  Molecular Breeding 9.3 (2002): 191-199.
- 59. Bakr, E. M. "A new software for measuring leaf area, and area damaged by Tetranychus urticae Koch." Journal of applied Entomology 129.3 (2005): 173-175.